STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Hampton County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BENJAMIN JEROME BLAKE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001943

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in allowing the State to question Appellant about an unrelated incident where an investigator allegedly observed Appellant drag a girlfriend out of the woods by her hair?
2. Did the trial judge err in failing to conduct the third step of the Batson procedure and determine if the State's explanations for using four of five peremptory challenges to strike black jurors were mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2015, the Hampton County Grand Jury¹ indicted Appellant, Benjamin Jerome Blake, for three counts of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2015-GS-25-380 – 383. On October 16, 2018, Blake proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis. Steve Plexico represented Blake at trial. Hunter Swanson prosecuted the case. The jury found Blake guilty of attempted murder as to Jeantaviene "Chabby" Dobson and guilty of the lesser included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature [ABHAN] as to Tiffany Lakes and her unborn child. The jury also found Blake guilty of the weapons charge. Judge Curtis sentenced Blake to fifteen (15) years for attempted murder, fifteen (15) years each concurrent for the two counts of ABHAN and five (5) years concurrent for the weapons charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on October 23, 2018. This appeal follows.

¹ It is unclear who testified before the grand jury because only the initials "EPD" appear on the indictment.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Propensity Evidence/ Prior Bad Act:

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866.

In order to admit evidence of bad acts not resulting in conviction, the trial court must, “[a]s a threshold matter, ... determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant.” Clasby, 385 S.C. at 154, 682 S.E.2d at 895; see State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2009). “If the trial judge finds the evidence to be relevant, the judge must then determine whether the bad act evidence [is admissible under the terms] of Rule 404(b)” to show, *inter alia*, the existence of a common scheme or plan. Clasby, 385 S.C. at 154, 682 S.E.2d at 895. If the testimony is relevant and proffered for a permissible purpose, the trial court must next conduct a balancing test, pursuant to Rule 403; where the testimony's probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, the trial court may exclude it. See State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 611, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007); see also Rule 403, SCRE (“[E]vidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice ...”).

Batson:

“In the typical appeal from the granting or denial of a Batson motion, the appellate courts give deference to the findings of the trial court and apply a clearly erroneous standard.” State v.

Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 312, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2006). “This standard of review, however, is premised on the trial court following the mandated procedure for a Batson hearing.”

Id. “Here, where the assignment of error is the failure to follow the Batson hearing procedure, we must answer a question of law. When a question of law is presented, our standard of review is plenary.” Id.

ARGUMENTS

The trial judge erred in allowing the State to question Appellant about an unrelated incident where an investigator allegedly observed Appellant drag a girlfriend out of the woods by her hair:

The jury found Blake guilty of shooting at Jeantaviene "Chabby" Dobson in November of 2015. The bullet missed Dobson and instead struck Tiffany Lakes who was pregnant. The State indicted Blake for attempted murder as to all three but the jury found Blake guilty of the lesser included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature with regard to Lakes and her baby. Blake and three other witnesses testified that Blake was at his mother's house recovering from a sickle cell episode at the time of the shooting.

Prior to trial Blake asked if the State intended to introduce evidence of prior bad acts. (R. p. 31, lines 9-12). The prosecutor stated:

The only conviction that I see on his record is a 2014 public disorderly conduct which does not fall under the rules to use against him. As far as prior bad acts, I do not intent to get into any, unless he should open the door, I do intent to ask some of the witnesses if they know what the relationship between Mr. Blake and Mr. Dobson is without getting into the details. They had some problems together. They did not get along; not going to go into the details of why they didn't get along. But any prior difficulties are animus between the parties, without getting into the details; are appropriate things to address with witnesses when we have an attempted homicide. It goes to motive and identity. And, again, not going into the details so it is not a 404(b) analysis. It is just a relevance analysis.

(R. p. 31, line 14 – p. 32, lines 1-3).

At trial Blake testified that he has a baby with Delisha Dobson, Jeantaviene "Chabby" Dobson's sister. (R. p. 191, line 15 – p. 192, lines 1-17). Blake, however, dates Monica Cyclear. (R. p. 168, lines 6-24). Blake testified that in April of 2015, "Chabby" Dobson shot the back window out of Blake's car. (R. p. 192, line 18 – p. 193, lines 1-12). Blake testified that he reported the shooting incident to the police but did not wish for "Chabby" to be arrested or

prosecuted. (R. p. 193, line 13 – p. 194, lines 1-4). Blake said that he and “Chabby” talked and “came to a conclusion to wash off the situation.” (R. p. 194, lines 7-9). Blake testified that he had no reason to shoot at “Chabby” in November of 2015.

During the re-direct examination of Blake the following took place:

Q. Okay. And the truth is, you’ve been running around with Delisha for years, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay, all right. So and you were running around with her in 2015?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And is that what he [“Chabby”] was mad about?

A. Could have been.

Q. Okay. But there shouldn’t have been any problems in November?

A. No sir.

(R. p. 202, lines 5-17). Then, on re-cross examination of Blake the following took place:

Q. Mr. Plexico asked you if Jeantavienne could have possibly been mad about you running around on his sister, Lisha Dobson, right?

A. Yes ma’am. He did.

Q. Right. And so you said, yeah, that’s probably what he was mad about, correct?

A. I said could have been.

Q. Could have been? So it could have been something else, too, right?

A. Like?

Q. I’m glad you asked me. It could have been when Investigator Michael Thomas found you dragging her out of the woods by her hair, correct?

(R. p. 204, lines 13-25). Blake objected and the judge excused the jury. (R. p. 205, lines 1-13).

Blake continued to object, reminding the judge of the pre-trial conversation about prior bad acts. (R. p. 205, lines 14 – 25). The State argued that Blake “opened the door” stating:

Mr. Plexico opened the door wide open when he asked him what Jeantvienne could have possibly been mad at him about. Okay? I mean, he was getting into, oh well, he doesn't like that he's running around with his sister. And then the Defendant himself asked me like what else is there. He was there. He knows. This is proper cross-examination. This explores the relationship between the parties and the motive that Jeantavienne had and Mr. Blake has in shooting Jeantavienne.

(R. p. 205, lines 2-11). The State appears to argue that the question about the alleged incident involving Delisha Dobson goes to motive. If the State's purpose in admitting the evidence of the alleged prior bad act was to show motive, then the Judge needed to make a finding that the evidence was relevant, met the motive exception of Rule 404(b), was proved by clear and convincing evidence and then conduct a Rule 403 analysis. As discussed below, the evidence does not meet the requirements for admissibility.

Counsel for Blake was unaware of the alleged prior incident. (R. p. 208, lines 23-24). Blake told the judge, “Why, I was asking him why, Judge. Because this was based on what she had shared with me. She had not shared anything like that with me. So that goes back to misleading of the Court in setting up the Defense and then claiming they opened the door. That's just not fair. If she had that, that's a Rule 5 discovery violation if she intended to use and she should have told me.” (R. p. 206, line 23 – p. 207, lines 1-5). The prosecutor told the judge that she did not have an incident report about the alleged incident but still argued that it was proper for cross-examination. (R. p. 207, lines 10 – 24). The judge allowed the questions stating, “I'm going to allow the question and, but I'm not giving free rein on this. This is for a very narrow purpose.” (R. p. 208, lines 12-14).

When the jury returned the prosecutor asked, "All right. So Benjamin, the last question to you was that Jeantavienne's problem with you could not have possibly arisen from how you treated his sister and you at one point were pulling her by her hair from the wood line?" (R. p. 208, lines 9-13). Blake responded that the brother would have no way of knowing and the State had no proof of the alleged incident. (R. p. 209, lines 14-25). The judge erred in allowing the question without a hearing, as requested by Blake at the beginning of the trial.

The question referencing an investigator alleging that he saw Blake drag Delisha Dobson out of the woods by her hair was irrelevant and improperly referenced a prior bad act which did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b). The prior bad act did not show Blake's motive. The prior bad act could possibly be relevant to "Chabby's" motive to shoot Blake's car window out, if the State could prove the prior alleged act by clear and convincing evidence and show that "Chubby" was aware of the alleged prior bad act. The question about the prior alleged bad act, however, is not relevant to any possible motive Blake is alleged to have had to shoot "Chabby."

Even if the question could somehow be relevant to Blake's motive to shoot "Chabby," as opposed to "Chabby's" motive to shoot Blake, it was still inadmissible as there was not clear and convincing evidence of the alleged act. The State admitted there was not an incident report and the investigator did not testify about the allegation. Finally, the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. In State v. King, 424 S.C. 188, 200, 818 S.E.2d 204, 210 (2018)(n. #6 omitted), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Evidence of other bad acts is generally inadmissible to prove a defendant's guilt for the crime charged; however, such evidence may be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE. "To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing." State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008). Nevertheless, this other bad act evidence must be excluded if its

probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. Rule 403, SCRE (providing that although evidence may be relevant, it may be excluded "if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice"). "[T]he determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record, and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case." State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 404, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441 (2009).

The reference to the alleged prior bad act was inadmissible.

At trial the State argued that Blake "opened the door" to admission of the alleged prior bad act by questioning Blake about why Jeantavienne "Chabby" Dobson may have been angry with Blake. Blake did not open the door as the prosecutor's question did not go to impeachment or Blake's credibility. Blake admitted that at the time "Chabby" shot out the back window of Blake's car, "Chabby" could have been upset about Blake running around with or on his sister, Delisha Dobson. While Rule 404(b), SCRE, does not have a notice requirement as the federal rule, both Blake and the trial judge should have been made aware of the alleged prior bad act at pre-trial, when the prosecutor advised the judge that she only intended to ask Blake general questions about prior difficulties between Blake and "Chabby" Dobson.

The prosecutor's question violated Rule 404(b) and Rule 608(b). In State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 75, 502 S.E.2d 63, 75 (1998), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Under Rule 608(b), SCRE, specific instances of the conduct of a witness may be inquired into on cross-examination if probative of the witness's character for truthfulness or untruthfulness. South Carolina's Rule is identical to the Federal rule. The inquiry under Rule 608(b) is limited to those specific instances of misconduct which are clearly probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness such as forgery, bribery, false pretenses, and embezzlement. *See Weinstein's Federal Evidence, Character and Conduct of Witness* § 608.12(4)(a-b) (1998).

The question referencing an investigator alleging that he saw Blake drag Delisha Dobson out of the woods by her hair is not probative of Blake's character for truthfulness.

In State v. Hawes, 423 S.C. 118, 135, 813 S.E.2d 513, 522 (Ct. App. 2018), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

When an accused takes the stand, he becomes subject to impeachment, like any other witness. Regardless of whether the accused offers evidence of his good character, an accused who takes the stand may be cross-examined about 'past transactions tending to affect his credibility.' ” State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 183, 391 S.E.2d 235, 237 (1990) (quoting State v. Allen, 266 S.C. 468, 482, 224 S.E.2d 881, 886 (1976)). “First, the accused may be asked about prior bad acts, not the subject of a conviction, which go to his credibility.” *Id.* at 184, 391 S.E.2d at 237. However, the cross-examiner must take the accused's answer and may not contradict the accused if he denies them. *Id.*

In Hawes, a murder trial in which the defendant argued that he acted in self-defense in the fatal stabbing of his girlfriend, the Court of Appeals distinguished a prior statement of bad intent from a prior bad act. The prosecutor, on cross-examination, asked Hawes if he remembered making a statement to a female that if she ever called the police, he would make it look like it was her fault. Hawes answered, “No I do not.” *Id.*, 423 S.C. at 135, 813 S.E.2d at 522. The prosecutor then called the female as a witness and she testified, without referencing any acts that may have led up to Hawes making the statement, that “He told me that if I were to call law enforcement ... that I would be the one to go to jail.” *Id.* 423 S.C. at 135, 813 S.E.2d at 522. The Court found the cross-examination by the prosecutor and testimony from the female was admissible writing, “Female 1's testimony was relevant to Hawes's credibility regarding his claim that Victim was the aggressor, and thus, was significant evidence for the jury's consideration. Contrary to Hawes's testimony that he killed Victim in self-defense, Female 1's statement established that, in the past, Hawes had planned to make a girlfriend appear at fault in the event of a police investigation. Therefore, the testimony was properly admitted.” *Id.*, 423 S.C. at 137, 813 S.E.2d at 523.

In the present case the prosecutor did not ask Blake about a prior statement of bad intent. Instead, the prosecutor improperly questioned Blake about a prior bad act that was not probative of truthfulness. The improper questioning requires reversal of the convictions.

- 2. The trial judge erred in failing to conduct the third step of the Batson procedure and determine if the State's explanations for using four of five peremptory challenges to strike black jurors were mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.**

During jury selection the State used four of its five peremptory strikes on black jurors. The impaneled jury was composed of six black jurors and six white jurors. (R. p. 280 Jury strike sheet). After the selection of the jury Blake made a motion pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d (1986), stating, "Yes, Your Honor. I do have a Batson motion, Your Honor. The State struck all black jurors, Your Honor. My client is a black male, I think that is a due process violation, Your Honor, and I would ask that you elicit race neutral reasons for that being done." (R. p. 21, lines 15-19).

The State responded:

The first black juror that I struck number 18, he was a black male. He had a history of traffic charges, i.e., not following the rules and he seemed a little jokey and laughey during qualifications. The second person that I struck was number 73, a black female, college student. I do not have a good experience with college students. Those jurors, I find them a little young and liberal and she was also very attractive, batting her eyelashes. And I thought perhaps she would take pity on the Defendant. Again, the next strike was juror 130, black female, also a college student. Again, I find college students to be liberal, I have not had a good experience with them on jury's. And then finally number 4, number 164, a black female. I was informed that she actually knows a number of people in the Fairwood Apartments which is the incident location. I don't know what she has heard on the street, it has been three years, the streets talk. And that could swing either way but I just, just looking for a fair trial I struck her.

(R. p. 21 – p. 22, lines 1-16).

Blake then argued:

Number 18 is 31-years old, Judge. The fact that he is jokey and laughey, I just don't see that has a race neutral reason. He was no more social or less social. You had a chance to observe the jurors during voir dire as the Defense and the State did. He was no more, the behavior was nothing to be noted. That is obviously a pretextual reason. In regards to number 73, Your Honor, I would like to point out that number 73 is 25-years old, Your Honor. And this batting eye-lashing thing sounds like shucking and jiving which we have already got case law on. So, I mean, that is certainly not a race neutral reason. In regards to number 130, let me turn to that. She is 21-years-old, Judge. And we have other young people that are servers in such that, she readily put on the jury who would not have the maturity of a college student or the intelligence to perhaps get into college. The fact that they put the Wild Wing server on, of course she may not be interested in higher education, I think that belittles the statement that she made to the Court and I believe that was obviously pretextual and they were all emotional motivated, Your Honor. And I would ask that you strike a new jury.

(R. p. 22, line 18 – p. 23, lines 1-5).

The judge denied the motion stating:

I do find that these are race neutral reasons. The history of traffic charges, and two being college students, the Wild Wing server who was seated and is 19-years-old is not a college student. And number 164, I do find that it has a race neutral reason given her potential knowledge of or having heard something about these events from the folks that live in that area. So thank you, your motion is respectfully denied.

(R. p. 23, line 19 – p. 24, line 1). The trial judge erred. The judge found the State's explanations were race neutral but failed to complete the analysis and determine if the State's explanations were mere pretext to engage in purposeful discrimination:

“In Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), this Court ruled that a State may not discriminate on the basis of race when exercising peremptory challenges against prospective jurors in a criminal trial.” Flowers v. Mississippi, 139 S. Ct. 2228, 2234 (2019). “That blanket discretion to peremptorily strike prospective jurors for any reason can clash with the dictates of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment

to the United States Constitution.” Id. at 2238. In State v. Giles, 407 S.C. 14, 18, 754 S.E.2d 261, 263 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

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