**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Hampton County  
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001943

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BENJAMIN JEROME BLAKE,

APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

JAN 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge properly admitted evidence of Appellant's assault on one of the victim's sister because it was used to impeach Appellant and challenge his false testimony contradict the evidence of good character he presented. Further, Appellant opened the door to such evidence during his testimony.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in allowing the State to question Appellant about an incident in which Appellant was observed dragging the victim's sister out of the woods by her hair. The State disagrees with this allegation of error for many reasons. First, the State properly introduced the evidence to impeach Appellant's false testimony and impugn the evidence of good character he presented. Second, the challenged evidence was only introduced because Appellant opened the door to it during his testimony. Third, and finally, the evidence was independently admissible as critical *res gestae* evidence to explain the ongoing conflict between Appellant and Dobson.

“The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling [on such] will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Washington, 424 S.C. 374, 818 S.E.2d 459, 475 (Ct. App. 2018). (quoting State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 [2003]); see also State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010) (same). Likewise, the scope of cross-examination is largely within the trial court's discretion, and the appellate court “will not disturb a trial court's ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” In re Matter of Campbell, 427 S.C. 183, 830 S.E.2d 14, 18 (2019) (quoting Yoho v. Thompson, 345 S.C. 361, 548 S.E.2d 584, 585 [2001]); Bunch v. Charleston & W.C. Ry. Co., 91 S.C. 139, 74

S.E. 363, (1912). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's conclusions either lack evidentiary support or they are controlled by an error of law. Washington, 818 S.E.2d at 469.

“When an accused takes the stand, he becomes subject to impeachment, like any other witness. Regardless of whether the accused offers evidence of his good character, an accused who takes the stand may be cross-examined about ‘past transactions tending to affect his credibility.’” State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 183, 391 S.E.2d 235, 237 (1990) (quoting State v. Allen, 266 S.C. 468, 482, 224 S.E.2d 881, 886 (1976)). “First, the accused may be asked about prior bad acts, not the subject of a conviction, which go to his credibility.” Id. at 184, 391 S.E.2d at 237. However, the cross-examiner must accept the accused’s answer and may not challenge the accused if he denies the bad act. Id.

Additionally, when a defendant offers evidence of his good character traits relevant to the crime charged, the solicitor has the right to cross-examine him as to particular bad acts or conduct. State v. Young, 378 S.C. 101, 106, 661 S.E.2d 387, 389 (2008) (citing State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 391 S.E.2d 235 [1990]). The State may show bad character only for the traits initially focused on by the accused, and impeachment may be done by introducing prior convictions with extrinsic evidence. Id.

Finally, otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when the defendant opens the door to that evidence. State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008); see also State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984) (when one party introduces evidence as to a particular fact or transaction, the other party is entitled to introduce otherwise incompetent or irrelevant evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof). “[A] defendant may open the door to what would otherwise be improper evidence through his own introduction of evidence or witness examination.” State v. Culbreath, 377 S.C. 326, 333, 659 S.E.2d 268,

272 (Ct. App. 2008). “A party cannot complain of prejudice from evidence to which he opened the door.” Id. (citing State v. Robinson, 305 S.C. 469, 474, 409 S.E.2d 404, 408 (1991)). The question of whether a party opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Page, 663 S.E.2d at 360.

In State v. Dennis, 402 S.C. 627, 742 S.E.2d 21 (2013), the defendant was convicted of ABWIK and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. During the trial, the State introduced testimony from a witness describing the defendant’s actions that day, including an incident earlier in the day in which defendant surprised witnesses when he produced a stolen gun and offered to sell it to them for fifty dollars which he would use to purchase crack cocaine and soon after suggested robbing the victim. Id. at 632, 742 S.E.2d at 24. The defendant objected to the evidence, arguing the evidence was not relevant to his case because: (1) motive was not an element of the crimes charged, (2) he was not charged with possession of a stolen gun; and (3) no other evidence suggested he was under the influence of drugs at the time of the crime. Id. at 632–33, 742 S.E.2d at 24. The trial court admitted the challenged testimony, finding it rebutted defendant’s “very different account” of the day’s event and that it established the motive for Appellant’s actions. Id. Ultimately, this Court upheld the admission of the challenged evidence under the *res gestae* theory, noting the “why” of the defendant’s actions was important for the jury in understanding his actions and provided context for his actions. Id. at 635–37, 742 S.E.2d at 25–26.

In State v. Hawes, 423 S.C. 118, 813 S.E.2d 513 (2018), the defendant, on trial for murder, testified that he killed his victim in self-defense and the victim was the aggressor. Id. at 133, 813 S.E.2d at 521. The State claimed Hawes’s testimony “opened the door” to introducing

into evidence his prior acts of domestic violence. Id. For impeachment purposes, the State asked Hawes whether he ever told a previous girlfriend that if she ever called law enforcement he would make the altercation look like her fault. Id. at 134–35, 813 S.E.2d at 521–22. Hawes claimed he never said such a thing, so the State called that previous girlfriend to testify, at which time she confirmed Hawes had told her as much, and that she would be the one to go to jail. Id. at 135, 813 S.E.2d at 522.

On appeal, this Court noted the State’s question regarding Hawes’s statement to the previous girlfriend involved impeachment, not a Rule 404(b) prior bad act issue. Id. at 136–37, 813 S.E.2d at 523. Further, if Hawes had admitted to making the statement, the State would not have been able to call the previous girlfriend to offer extrinsic evidence of it. Id. at 137, 813 S.E.2d at 523. The ex-girlfriend’s testimony was relevant to Hawes’s credibility regarding the claim that his victim was the aggressor. Id. Hawes, like every other witness, was subject to impeachment for false or inaccurate testimony and challenges to his credibility. Id. at 135, 813 S.E.2d at 522 (citing State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 183, 391 S.E.2d 235, 237 (1990) (internal citations omitted)).

In the instant case, the State’s questioning of Appellant regarding his prior assault against Dobson’s sister was proper for several reasons. First, Appellant opened the door to such evidence. When a defendant introduces evidence of a particular fact or transaction, the State has every right to introduce “otherwise incompetent or irrelevant” evidence to explain or rebut the defendant’s testimony. See Stroman, 281 S.C. at 513, 316 S.E.2d at 399. Here, Appellant—not the State—introduce evidence of Dobson shooting at Appellant in his vehicle. Accordingly, the State was permitted to respond to this half-explanation of the conflict between the men by introducing evidence that it did not begin with Dobson shooting at Appellant, but was one

incident in an ongoing conflict with Appellant, going at least as far back as when Appellant assaulted Dobson's sister. Appellant's testimony made it necessary to provide the full history and context of the interactions between the two men so that the jury would be fully apprised of the history of the two men. See Dennis, 402 S.C. at 632–33, 742 S.E.2d at 24. Accordingly, Appellant may not now complain about the introduction of this evidence when his testimony necessitated the State's response, which gave context to that incident and the conflict between the men. See Culbreath, 377 S.C. at 333, 659 S.E.2d at 272.

The challenged questions were also appropriate because Appellant, similar to the defendant in Hawes, gave false testimony and opened himself up to impeachment. Appellant, like any other witness, is subject to impeachment. See Major, 301 S.C. 183, 391 S.E.2d 237. Appellant made two notably false claims during his testimony: (1) Appellant's fathering a child with Dobson's older sister and refusal to marry her was the source of conflict between the men; and (2) Appellant eliminated any conflict between the men, and any reason to harm Dobson, prior to the shooting in dispute because he desired a positive relationship with the uncle of his child. However, both of these claims were demonstrably false because Dobson's sister was not pregnant with Appellant's child at the time of the shooting; Appellant admitted his child was born approximately two years after the shooting, rendering any motivations for either men based on the non-existent pregnancy as impossibilities. At this point, the State was permitted to impeach Appellant's false testimony with evidence pertaining to the real source of conflict between the men; Appellant's physical assault on Dobson's sister. Bad acts such as these have been accepted by South Carolina courts as proper for impeachment when used to impeach a testifying defendant's testimony, provided the cross-examiner accepts the defendant's answer and does not introduce extrinsic evidence of the bad act. Major, 301 S.C. at 184, 391 S.E.2d at

237. The State accepted Appellant's answer and did not use extrinsic evidence to prove the bad act.

Discussion of Appellant's assault on Dobson's sister was also appropriate because Appellant's testimony about resolving his conflict with Dobson was his attempt to introduce evidence of his good character; Appellant claimed he was the victim of an attack by Dobson but, rather than take revenge or aid in his arrest, he made peace with him. Notably, this testimony is an attempt to show the jury Appellant is both peaceful and family-oriented. Because Appellant offered evidence of these good character traits, the State was permitted to cross-examine Appellant as to particular bad acts or conduct which contradicted these assertions. See Young, 378 S.C. at 106, 661 S.E.2d at 389. Notably, when introducing evidence in this context, the State may utilize extrinsic evidence to prove the bad acts occurred. Id.

Accordingly, due to Appellant's actions, the trial judge properly allowed the State to cross-examine Appellant on his prior incident with Dobson's older sister.

## II.

**The trial judge properly analyzed the State's juror strikes pursuant to Batson and ended its analysis when Appellant was unable to prove the State sat jurors similarly situated to those it struck and wholly ignored several of the justifications presented by the State.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in failing to perform the third step of the Batson procedure and determine if the State's explanations for its allocation of its peremptory challenges were "mere pretext" to strike black jurors. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Notably, no further analysis was required because the State provided race-neutral reasons for all of its strikes, none of which applied to similarly situated jurors of other races and some of which were wholly unaddressed by trial counsel.

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the striking of a juror on the basis of race. Batson, 476 U.S. at 89; State v. Inman, 409 S.C. 19, 25, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014); State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 313, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2006). “Once a peremptory challenge is opposed, the trial court must, upon request, conduct a Batson hearing and adhere to the procedures set forth in Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), and adopted by our Supreme Court in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 124, 470 S.E.2d 366, 372 (1996).” Cochran, 369 S.C. at 314, 631 S.E.2d at 297-98. The United States Supreme Court has set forth a three-step inquiry for evaluating whether a party executed a peremptory challenge in a manner which violated the Equal Protection Clause. Inman at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108; see Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767–68. (1995).

Jurors may be struck for a multitude of reasons. For example, a juror may be struck based on his demeanor and disposition. State v. Wilder, 306 S.C. 535, 538, 413 S.E.2d 323, 325 (1991). For a Batson challenge to succeed, the [party asserting the Batson] challenge must make a prima facie showing that the challenge was based on race. Inman at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. If a sufficient showing is made, the trial court will move to the second step in the process, which requires the [party opposing the Batson] challenge to provide a race neutral explanation for the challenge. Id. If the trial court finds that burden has been met, the process will proceed to the third step, at which point the trial court must determine whether the [party asserting] the challenge has proved purposeful discrimination. Id. The ultimate burden always rests with the [party asserting the Batson challenge] to prove purposeful discrimination. Id.

Step two of the analysis is perhaps the easiest step to meet as it does not require that the race-neutral explanation be persuasive, or even plausible. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768; Inman at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. The explanation must only be “clear and reasonably specific such that the

[party asserting the Batson challenge] has a full and fair opportunity to demonstrate pretext in the reason given and the trial court to fulfill its duty [in step three] to assess the plausibility of the reason in light of all the evidence with a bearing on it. Inman at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108.

In contrast, step three of the above analysis requires the court to carefully evaluate whether the party asserting the Batson challenge has proven racial discrimination by demonstrating that the proffered race-neutral reasons are mere pretext for a discriminatory intent. Id. (emphasis added); see also Batson, 476 U.S. at 93–94 (stating that the court must consider “the totality of the relevant facts,” including both direct and circumstantial evidence). During step three, the party asserting the Batson challenge should point to direct evidence of racial discrimination, such as showing that the opponent struck a juror for a facially neutral reason but did not strike a similarly-situated juror of another race. Inman at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108–09.

When performing this part of the analysis, the trial judge should look at all the evidence before him, including the composition of the jury panel. State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 621, 545 S.E.2d 805, 813 (2001) (“[T]he composition of the jury panel is a factor that may be considered when determining whether a party engaged in purposeful discrimination pursuant to a Batson challenge.”). Use of strikes against jurors of the alleged discriminated group and those outside of said group is evidence factoring against a finding of purposeful discrimination. See Cochran, 369 S.C. at 315–16, 631 S.E.2d at 298. Further, the failure to exercise all peremptory challenges and allowing members of the disputed group on the jury may be further evidence contradicting a claim of discrimination. See id. at 316, 631 S.E.2d at 299 (“[Defendants] used only ten of their twenty allotted peremptory challenges. If they intended to discriminate against white jurors, they certainly would have exercised their peremptory challenges more liberally. Instead, [Defendants] seated five white jurors.”). When the opponent of the strike proves the proponent

of the strike practiced purposeful racial discrimination, the trial court must quash the entire jury panel and initiate another jury selection de novo. Cochran at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298.

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